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ttorneys involved in criminal 
cases are constantly being called 
upon to give legal advice with  
 respect to sensitive, complex 

and often ambiguous matters. Histori-
cally, attorneys have challenged estab-
lished principals of law by forging new 
and creative arguments and sometimes 
advise clients how to avoid strictures of 
the law. rarely has erroneous legal advice 
been criminalized without a finding that 
the attorney is knowingly and deliberately 
rendering advice which will further crim-
inal conduct.1 two recent cases starkly 
present the issue of whether and how legal 
advice can be prosecuted.

‘United States v. Kuehne’

a well-known, Miami-based white 
collar defense attorney was indicted in 
February 2008 for violations of the fed-
eral money laundering laws. named as a 
co-defendant in a case brought against a 
supposed colombian drug kingpin and his 
colombian-based accountant, the attor-
ney, Ben Kuehne, was charged with one 
count of money laundering conspiracy 
in violation of 18 U.s.c. §1957 for know-
ingly engaging in a monetary transaction 
with criminally derived property of a value 
greater than $10,000 having been derived 
from a specified unlawful activity, and one 
count of a money laundering concealment 
conspiracy in violation of 18 U.s.c. §1956 
for conspiring to launder illegal proceeds 
knowing that the transaction was designed 

to conceal the illegal nature of the funds. 
according to the indictment, the proceeds 
allegedly laundered were derived illegally 
from the dealing of illegal narcotics and 
wire fraud. 

Mr. Kuehne and his co-defendants 
also were charged with four substantive 
money laundering counts and one count 
of wire fraud conspiracy. With respect 
to the wire fraud count, the government 

alleged that the defendants believed that 
the colombian government intended to 
seize the assets to be sent for the defense 
team of the alleged drug kingpin. despite 
this knowledge, the defendants used the 
wires to transfer the funds to Mr. Kuehne’s 
trust account, thereby “depriv[ing] the 
colombian Government of its right to 
seize and thereafter forfeit these illegal 
proceeds.”2 

Mr. Kuehne sought dismissal of count 
one of the indictment—conspiracy to 
violate §1957—claiming that congress 

had explicitly excepted his actions from 
criminal liability. Given the significance of 
a lawyer being prosecuted for professional  
services related to the representation  
of a client, the case drew a great deal  
of attention.3 

Mr. Kuehne’s involvement in the 
case began at the end of 2001, shortly 
after Fabio ochoa-vasquez, the alleged 
colombian drug kingpin, was charged 
with conspiracy to smuggle 30 tons of 
cocaine per month into the United states 
between 1997 and 1999. Mr. ochoa hired 
several defense attorneys to represent 
him, including roy Black. In december 
2001, Mr. Black’s defense team hired 
Mr. Kuehne to conduct an investigation 
into the source of the funds to be used 
by Mr. ochoa to pay his milliondollar 
legal tab. specifically, the indictment 
alleges that Mr. Kuehne was tasked with 
verifying that the funds were derived 
from untainted sources and, there-
fore, not subject to forfeiture by the  
government.

Between January 2002 and april 2003, 
numerous wire transfers totaling more 
than $5 million were sent to Mr. Kuehne’s 
attorney trust account from various bank 
accounts inside and outside the United 
states in payment of Mr. ochoa’s legal 
fees. after investigating the source of the 
funds, Mr. Kuehne drafted several opinion 
letters advising Mr. ochoa’s defense team 
that he had “conducted a comprehensive 
analysis of the source of all funds” and 
that all were valid and legal. the funds 
were then transferred from Mr. Kuehne’s 
trust account to Mr. ochoa’s defense 
team, less Mr. Kuehne’s fee for services 
rendered.
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subsequently, the government indicted 
Mr. Kuehne, alleging that he, along with 
Mr. ochoa and Gloria Florez velez, the 
colombian accountant, conspired to vio-
late the laws against money laundering. 
With respect to count one, the indictment 
specifically alleged that the defendants 
“conspired and caused financial transac-
tions involving the wire transfer of more 
than $10,000 in funds to, and within, the 
United states from colombia and would 
forward those proceeds to the ochoa 
criminal defense team with false opinion 
letters certifying that the funds were from 
a legitimate source.”4 

according to the government, Mr. Kuehne  
repeatedly represented in his opinion let-
ters that he had verified the sources of 
funds received, when in fact the funds 
were transferred from fictitious individu-
als or entities.5 according to the govern-
ment, Mr. Kuehne must have known that 
the sources were incredible and the assets 
were tainted. Further, the indictment 
alleged that the object of the conspiracy 
was to engage in the monetary transac-
tions for the purpose of paying legal fees 
to the ochoa criminal defense team.

Mr. Kuehne filed a motion to dismiss 
count one of the indictment, arguing that 
transactions involving criminal defense 
fees specifically are exempted from the 
criminal behavior covered by §1957.6 sec-
tion 1957 prohibits a person from engag-
ing in monetary transactions in property 
derived from specified unlawful activity. 
section 1957(f)(1) provides an exception 
to the term “monetary transactions” for 
those “transaction[s] necessary to pre-
serve a person’s right to representation 
as guaranteed by the sixth amendment 
to the constitution.”

Mr. Kuehne argued that courts uni-
formly have applied this exemption to 
transactions involving funds paid to an 
attorney for legitimate criminal defense 
services and that his role in investigat-
ing the source of the funds and rendering 
an opinion on the validity of the money 
fell within the exemption because all 
funds transferred to Mr. Kuehne were: 
(1) used to pay Mr. ochoa’s defense 
team and (2) “transactions” necessary to 
preserve Mr. ochoa’s sixth amendment  
rights. 

Mr. Kuehne noted that the purpose of 
the exemption, as set forth in legislative 
history, was to remove “the chilling effect” 
on the willingness of lawyers to take on 
clients if they were to be subjected to 
criminal prosecution. stressing the dan-
gers posed by the issues involved in his 
motion, Mr. Kuehne wrote that “[e]ven 
when the fees tendered by [a] client 
appear to be untainted, there will almost 
always be some level of uncertainty. and 
without an exemption from criminal pros-
ecution, many clients with untainted funds 
will be unable to find lawyers willing to 
take their cases.”7 

the government argued that the exemp-
tion was inapplicable, opining that the 
wire transfers of funds from Mr. ochoa 
to Mr. Kuehne and subsequently to  
Mr. ochoa’s defense team were not “nec-
essary” to preserve Mr. ochoa’s right to 
representation.8 specifically, the govern-
ment argued that although the statutory 
exemption provided for monetary trans-
actions necessary to preserve a person’s 
sixth amendment rights, the sixth amend-
ment did not guarantee a defendant the 
right to use illegal proceeds to retain  
counsel. 

In taking this position, the government 
relied heavily on the U.s. supreme court’s 
decision in Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered 
v. United States.9 In that case, a law firm 
claimed that it was entitled to legal fees 
paid from funds that had been subject 
to criminal forfeiture pursuant to a plea 
agreement, arguing that the forfeiture 
statute unconstitutionally infringed on a 
criminal defendant’s right to counsel of 
choice. In rejecting the law firm’s position, 
the supreme court opined that no depri-
vation of a constitutional right occurred 
when a defendant was prevented from 
using criminal proceeds to pay for legal 
services, writing that “[a] robbery sus-
pect, for example, has no sixth amend-
ment right to use funds he has stolen from 
a bank to retain an attorney to defend 
him if he is apprehended.”10 In essence, 
the government argued that Caplin & Dry-
sdale vitiated the statutory exception in 
§1957(f)(1).11 

Mr. Kuehne wrote, however, that he 
believed the government had missed the 
entire point of the exemption. 

congress did not enact the exemp-
tion in the mistaken belief that a 
criminal had a sixth amendment 
right to pay a lawyer with proceeds 
of a crime. congress was concerned 
with the chilling effect that the threat 
of criminal prosecution would have 
on the willingness of defense lawyers 
to represent persons who might have 
untainted funds. If there were a magi-
cal way of determining with certainty 
whether a fee is tainted at the time 
when it is offered, the exemption 
would be unnecessary. But there is 
no magical way of doing so. that is 
why congress believed the exemp-
tion was “necessary to preserve” 
sixth amendment rights.12

this argument was echoed by the 
national association of criminal defense 
Lawyers in its amicus curiae brief sub-
mitted in support of Mr. Kuehne. rather 
than rendering §1957(f)(1) a nullity, the 
nacdL argued that Caplin & Drysdale held 
only that the government may seek forfei-
ture of tainted funds used to pay criminal 
defense fees. Moreover, the nacdL wrote 
that the government’s “imposition of such 
indirect constraints on [an] individual’s 
sixth amendment right to counsel of 
choice is both constitutionally suspect 
and inconsistent with the prophylactic 
exception of 18 U.s.c. §1957(f)(1).”13 

the district court concurred with 
the defendant and amicus curiae, opin-
ing that the govern-ment’s analysis was 
flawed and that the supreme court’s deci-
sion was limited to whether the sixth 
amendment prohibited the forfeiture of 
criminal proceeds to attorneys. “Unlike 
§1957, the civil forfeiture statute does not 
include an exemption for attorney’s fees. 
absent such a statutory exemption the 
supreme court reasoned that the sixth 
amendment did not protect such assets 
from forfeiture.” this holding does not, 
however, extend to the exemption set 
forth in §1957(f)(1).14 

the court noted that the exemption 
as created by congress was necessary 
to prevent the breadth of the money laun-
dering statute from impinging upon the 
attorneyclient relationship. “If I were to 
construe the statutory exemption as the 
government suggests, the exemption for 
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such transactions would amount to no 
exemption at all.”15 accordingly, the court 
granted Mr. Kuehne’s motion to dismiss 
the money laundering conspiracy count 
in the indictment against him. 

What remains are the substantive 
money laundering counts and the two 
remaining conspiracy counts—money 
laundering by concealment and wire 
fraud, which observers say are “hanging 
on by a thread.”

16
 the court deferred rul-

ing on the defendants’ motions to dismiss 
these counts on the basis of statute of 
limitations and lack of clarity.

17
 discovery 

continues in the case. 

‘In the Matter of Felix Vinluan’ 

the issue that arose in In the Matter of 
Felix Vinluan, as set forth below, is not 
as familiar as cases involving forfeiture. 
However, it also relates directly to an 
attorney’s ability to represent his or her 
client without fear of criminal liability. 

Mr. vinluan is a new York attorney who 
represented 10 nurses from the republic of 
the Philippines who had been recruited to 
work in the United states at a Long Island 
nursing home. each of the nurses executed 
an employment contract which provided 
they were to receive free travel to the U.s., 
two months of free housing and medical 
coverage, training, and assistance in obtain-
ing legal residency, and nursing licenses. In 
exchange, the nurses committed to three 
years employment. the contract further 
provided for liquidated damages in the 
amount of $25,000 should the nurses fail 
to honor their commitment.18 

the nurses claimed that the terms of 
their employment were breached almost 
immediately upon their arrival in the U.s. 
they were not provided with nursing 
licenses or adequate housing and were 
underpaid. In response, the nurses filed 
oral and written complaints with their 
employer, which they believed were not 
properly addressed. as a result, the nurses  
sought the assistance of Mr. vinluan, an 
attorney specializing in immigration law. 

the nurses indicated to Mr. vinluan that 
they wanted to resign because of the intol-
erable working conditions. the attorney 
advised the nurses that under the new York 
education Law, they could not leave their 
positions during a shift when they were on 

duty, but that they had the right to resign 
once their shifts had ended. nevertheless, 
he counseled the nurses that it might be in 
their best interest to remain in their posi-
tions while he pursued other remedies. 
Following their meeting, Mr. vinluan filed a 
complaint on behalf of the nurses with the 
office of special counsel for Immigration 
related Unfair employment Practices in 
Washington, d.c. on april 6, 2006. 

In spite of Mr. vinluan’s advice, on 
april 7, 2006, the nurses resigned en 
masse after meeting with the attorney. 
the nurses used an identical form letter 
to submit their resignations, providing 
notice before their respective sched-
uled shifts that ranged from eight to  
72 hours. Mr. vinluan claimed that he was 
unaware of the nurses’ intentions in this 
regard. the nurses maintained that they 
decided to collectively resign with little 
notice because they feared retaliation 
from their employer.19 

the employer filed a civil action 
against Mr. vinluan and the nurses 
seeking damages for breach of contract 
and tortious interference with the con-
tracts. that action is still pending in 
nassau county supreme court before 
Judge stephen Bucaria. In addition, a 
complaint was filed with the new York 
state education department charging 
that the nurses had abandoned their 
patients simultaneously without ade-
quate notice. In september 2006, after an 
investigation, the education department 
closed the case finding no wrongdoing 
on the part of the nurses. specifically, 
the education department found that 
the nurses had not engaged in profes-
sional misconduct because they neither 
resigned mid-shift, nor deprived patients 
of nursing care. 

However, in March 2007, the nurses 
and Mr. vinluan were indicted in suffolk 
county. the first count of the indictment 
charged that Mr. vinluan and the nurses 

had violated new York Penal Law §105.00 
(conspiracy in the sixth degree) by con-
spiring to engage in conduct constituting 
crimes of endangering the welfare of a 
child and endangering the welfare of a 
physically disabled person. 

the second count of the indictment 
charged Mr. vinluan with criminal solicitation  
in the fifth degree in violation of new York 
Penal Law §100.00 on the grounds that he 
intended that the nurses engage in crimi-
nal conduct by resigning. the indictment 
alleged that Mr. vinluan “requested and 
otherwise attempted to cause the nurses 
to resign immediately.” the remaining 
counts of the indictment charged that the 
defendants acted in concert to endanger 
the welfare of the nursing home’s patients in 
violation of new York Penal Law §260.10(1) 
(endangering the Welfare of a child) and 
§260.25 (endangering the Welfare of a  
disabled Person). 

the defendants’ motions to dismiss the 
indictment were denied by the trial court, 
but were taken up by the appellate division 
under article 78. Mr. vinluan argued that the 
prosecution improperly sought to punish him 
for exercising his First amendment right of 
free speech in providing the nurses with legal 
advice. the nurse defendants further argued 
that the prosecution was improper because 
it contravened the thirteenth amendment’s 
prohibition against involuntary servitude by 
seeking to impose criminal sanctions upon 
them for resigning their positions. 

the appellate division, second depart-
ment, concluded that the prosecution 
impermissibly violated Mr. vinluan’s First 
and Fourteenth amendment rights, writ-
ing that “[i]t cannot be doubted that an 
attorney has a constitutional right to pro-
vide legal advice to his clients within the 
bounds of the law.” relying on a supreme 
court decision that the actions of law-
yers from the national association for the 
advancement of colored People advising 
african americans to institute litigation 
of a particular kind were constitutionally 
protected, the appellate division found 
that the First and Fourteenth amendment 
protections necessarily included advising 
one that his or her legal rights have been 
infringed.20 

analyzing the conduct alleged in the 
government’s indictment, the court noted 
that Mr. vinluan’s criminal liability clearly 

Being a lawyer does not shield one 
from liability for engaging in wrong-
ful conduct. Under no circumstances, 
however, should a lawyer face 
criminal charges for advice or work 
properly rendered to a client. 
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was predicated upon conduct in which 
Mr. vinluan counseled his clients of 
their legal rights. “thus, the indictment  
affirmatively seeks to punish Mr. vinluan 
for providing legal services, which he 
avers was given in good faith.” In response, 
the district attorney did not dispute that 
Mr. vinluan had acted in good faith, but 
urged the court to conclude his advice was 
not constitutionally protected because he 
advised the nurses to commit a crime. 

opining that the nurses’ conduct in 
resigning did not constitute a crime, and 
dismissing the indictment against them on 
the grounds that the prosecution violated 
their thirteenth amendment rights, the 
court disagreed with the district attorney 
that Mr. vinluan counseled his clients to 
commit a crime. 

More importantly, regardless of 
whether vinluan’s legal assessment 
was accurate, it was objectively rea-
sonable. We cannot conclude that an 
attorney who advises a client to take 
an action that he or she, in good faith, 
believes to be legal, loses the protec-
tion of the First amendment if his 
or her advice is later determined to 
be incorrect. Indeed, it would evis-
cerate the right to give and receive 
legal counsel with respect to crimi-
nal liability if an attorney could be 
charged with conspiracy and solici-
tation whenever a district attorney 
disagreed with that advice.21 

the court concluded that the impact of 
such a policy was “profoundly disturbing” 
and an “assault on the adversarial sys-
tem of justice.” accordingly, the charges 
against Mr. vinluan were dismissed. 

Conclusion 

Being a lawyer does not shield one from 
liability for engaging in wrongful conduct. 
a lawyer who engages in a crime either 
outside his role as an advocate or in his 
lawyerly role, such as knowingly filing a 
false affidavit or stealing funds from a cli-
ent, can be justifiably prosecuted. Under 
no circumstances, however, should a 
lawyer face criminal charges for advice 
or work properly rendered to a client. 
such exposure impacts a client’s funda-
mental right to meaningful access to the 

courts, and also dangerously impinges 
on a client and attorney’s constitutional  
rights. 

attorneys cannot effectively represent 
clients when distracted by concerns 
about their own potential liability.22 the 
Kuehne and Vinluan cases are reminders 
of the danger that some prosecutors 
may disagree with this notion. another 
cautionary tale is the year-long recent 
Justice department investigation of 
Bush administration attorneys who 
wrote legal memorandums authorizing 
waterboarding and other harsh interro-
gation methods. although the doJ con-
cluded that the attorneys should not be 
prosecuted, they still may be subject to 
state disciplinary action.23 despite the 
controversial nature of these attorneys’ 
legal conclusions, the legal community 
should be somewhat relieved with the 
decision not to prosecute these attor-
neys given the dangerous precedent it 
may set. 
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